Z
R

Earth

Negotiations Bulletin Qg5

C e e e e e #2

A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations
Online at http://www.iisd.ca/biodiv/itpgrgb3/

Vol. 9 No. 467

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)

Tuesday, 2 June 2009

ITPGR GB 3 HIGHLIGHTS:
MONDAY, 1 JUNE 2009

Delegates to the third session of the Governing Body (GB 3)
of the International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food
and Agriculture (the Treaty or ITPGR) met in plenary throughout
the day, to hear keynote speeches and opening and regional
statements, address organizational matters, and begin discussions
on outstanding financial rules and compliance.

PLENARY

OPENING: GB Chair Modesto Fernandez Diaz-Silveira
(Cuba) welcomed delegates and thanked the government of
Tunisia for hosting the meeting and showing their commitment
to the Treaty.

Afioga-Taua Tavaga Kitiona Seuala, Minister of Agriculture
of Samoa, presented on the importance of agriculture to Pacific
Islands and the need to protect biological diversity to ensure
food security, especially in light of climate change and natural
disasters. He said that the region’s significant diversity is not
enough to deal with future challenges, and welcomed access to
global diversity through ratification of the ITPGR. He pointed
to the work of the Centre for Pacific Crops and Trees hosted by
the Secretariat of the Pacific Community (SPC) and signed an
agreement with FAO to place material in the Centre’s collection
in the Treaty’s Multilateral System (MLS).

Efrain Figueroa, Vice Minister of Agriculture of Honduras,
stressed the need to strengthen the processes of conservation
and sustainable use of plant genetic resources for food and
agriculture (PGRFA), calling on parties to act in harmony with
each other and on developed countries to provide financial
resources.

Alicia Crespo Pazos, Spain’s Ministry of Environment, Rural
and Marine Affairs, invited parties to contribute to the funding
strategy’s benefit-sharing fund as a key element of the Treaty,
and announced Spain’s contribution of 3 million Euros.

A video presented how the Treaty connects farmers,
researchers and donors globally through the exchange of genetic
material and benefit-sharing. It was noted that over 440,000
accessions to the MLS occurred in one year, and some 300
proposals were submitted for small-scale projects to support
local farmers.

Cinzia Scaffidi, Slow Food, Italy, noted recent G8 statements
recognizing the role of local communities in promoting
food security. She alerted delegates of the need to educate
consumers to counter the erosion of genetic resources and food
cultures.

Jean Beigbeder, Pro-Mais, France, stressed that facilitated
access to plant genetic resources is key to creating improved
varieties and vital for food security, and highlighted that they
made the first private sector contribution to the MLS, consisting
of 500 accessions from maize populations and lines.

Abdelmajid Labidi, Tunisian Union of Agriculture and
Fishing, for the International Federation of Agricultural
Producers, stressed farmers’ contribution to food security and
biodiversity protection, and called for their involvement in
decision making and for universal recognition of their right to
save, use and exchange seeds.

Chair Fernandez then declared the session open and
presented his report (IT/GB-3/09/3). He highlighted the Treaty’s
importance for adapting agriculture to climate change and
said that the lack of necessary financial resources hampers its
implementation. He announced that on Sunday, 31 May 2009,
the Bureau approved the first eleven projects under the benefit-
sharing fund, demonstrating that benefit-sharing is a reality.

Presenting his report (IT/GB-3/09/4), ITPGR Secretary
Shakeel Bhatti said the Treaty heeds the call for a new
multilateralism based on global public goods to address the
inter-related crises of food, climate and energy, by setting up an
MLS that covers more than 80% of our foods from plants and is
a key tool for climate change adaptation. He described how the
MLS has been implemented over the past 18 months including
through the standard material transfer agreement (SMTA),
which he said requires revisions to overcome legal and technical
uncertainties. He raised concerns about the Treaty’s financial
stability and said the budget presented is a minimum one that
ensures operationalization of core tasks. He stressed that the
ITPGR serves as a model to various international forums, and
can put agriculture back on the international policy map.

Abdessalem Mansour, Tunisia’s Minister of Agriculture and
Water Resources, stressed his country’s commitment to PGRFA
conservation and utilization, and to the full implementation of
the ITPGR. He highlighted that Tunisia has managed to preserve
crop biodiversity while ensuring intellectual property protection
for new varieties, including through international cooperation
and the establishment of a national genebank in 2007.

Modibo Traoré, FAO Assistant Director-General, expressed
satisfaction with record progress made under the Treaty and
with the innovative governance model it provides. He urged
delegates to accelerate resource mobilization to avoid the risk of
undermining implementation of the Treaty.

ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS: Delegates adopted the
agenda and timetable (IT/GB-3/09/1 Rev.1 and IT/GB-3/09/2);
elected Campbell Davidson (Canada) as Rapporteur of the

This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@jiisd.org> is written and edited by Claudio Chiarolla, Marie-Annick Moreau, Nicole Schabus, and Elsa Tsioumani.
The Digital Editor is Francis Dejon. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org>. The Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James “Kimo” Goree VI
<kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development — DFID), the Government of the
United States of America (through the Department of State Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs), the Government of Canada (through
CIDA), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), the German Federal Ministry for the
Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU), the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the European Commission (DG-ENV), and the Italian Ministry
for the Environment, Land and Sea. General Support for the Bulletin during 2009 is provided by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Australia,
the Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management, the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, the New Zealand Ministry of Foreign
Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN), the Finnish Ministry for Foreign Affairs, the Japanese Ministry of Environment
(through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES), the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and Social Progress
Research Institute - GISPRI), the Government of Iceland, and the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). The opinions expressed in the Bulletin are those of the
authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or other donors. Excerpts from the Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate academic
citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting services, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@jiisd.org>, +1-646-536-
7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11A, New York, New York 10022, United States of America. The ENB Team at the Third session of the Governing Body of the ITPGR can be
contacted by e-mail at <elsa@jiisd.org>.




Reporting
Services

Tuesday, 2 June 2009

Vol. 9 No. 467 Page 2

meeting; and established a credentials committee, as well as a
budget committee, co-chaired by Frangois Pythoud (Switzerland)
and a G-77/China representative to be nominated on Tuesday.
Noting that the budget committee will need to reach consensus
on the work programme and budget, Chair Fernandez said it will
be open to all delegations but only parties will have decision-
making power.

REGIONAL STATEMENTS: Ecuador, for G-77/

CHINA, said the Treaty was more than the SMTA and called
for transparent implementation and the meeting of funding
commitments by increasing voluntary contributions to the core
budget and agreeing to base these on an indicative scale. She
requested daily updates in plenary by the budget committee and
asked to postpone work on compliance until GB 4. Australia,
for the SOUTHWEST PACIFIC, disagreed on postponing
discussions on compliance, noting it had already been postponed
from GB 2. Uruguay, for the LATIN AMERICA AND THE
CARIBBEAN GROUP (GRULAC), said that equitable
benefit-sharing and financing were required for the Treaty to

be sustainable. Belgium, for the EUROPEAN REGIONAL
GROUP, stressed that all its members want to further promote
implementation and are committed to working constructively.

Canada, for NORTH AMERICA, underscored that the US
fully supports the objectives of the ITPGR and said the Obama
administration has recommended Senate action on the Treaty.
He highlighted Canada’s contribution to the Treaty’s core
budget and announced a voluntary contribution to the benefit-
sharing fund. Indonesia, for ASIA, offered to host GB 4 in 2011.
Egypt, for the MIDDLE EAST, supported the establishment of
a reliable and stable funding strategy and stressed the need to:
build capacity in all countries for implementation; support plant
breeding programmes; and involve all stakeholders. Kenya, for
the AFRICAN GROUP, noted that lack of funding had slowed
progress on the Treaty’s implementation in the region, and
indicated that the balance between access and benefit-sharing
remains skewed towards the former.

The INTERNATIONAL PLANNING COMMITTEE FOR
FOOD SOVEREIGNTY, on behalf of civil society, emphasized
that implementation of farmers’ rights is critical to addressing
the world’s food, climate change, energy and economic crises.
They put forward proposals including for parties to ensure the
rights of small-scale farmers, indigenous peoples and pastoralists
to protect farming social systems and cultures, and commit
to biennial reporting on the state of the world’s farmers and
farmers’ rights.

FINANCIAL RULES OF THE GOVERNING BODY:
The Secretariat introduced the item (IT/GB-3/09/5) and noted
that outstanding matters concern whether parties’ voluntary
contributions will be based on an indicative scale. He highlighted
that parties’ contributions to date are in line with the UN
indicative scale and explained that the UN Joint Inspection Unit
report on voluntary contributions has found that use of this scale
has helped to improve predictability and adequacy of resources,
and sustainability of programme delivery.

The G-77/CHINA supported that contributions be based
on an indicative scale, stressing that these would remain
voluntary. INDIA suggested that an indicative scale would be
better for both the Treaty and the parties, bringing certainty
and predictability to budget planning. SWITZERLAND and
NORWAY also supported using an indicative scale, adding
that this would strengthen the Treaty’s independence from
FAO. CANADA preferred voluntary contributions without an
indicative scale. The Czech Republic, for the EU and TURKEY,
asked that the financial rules be dealt with under the agenda
item on implementation of the MLS. Pointing to the majority
in support of an indicative scale, the ETC GROUP supported

adopting it, thereby putting in place the key building block for
sustainable financing. FRANCE stressed that the brackets around
the two existing options could not be removed unless there was
unanimity.

Supporting the G-77/CHINA position, the AFRICAN
GROUP suggested establishing a contact group on the issue,
while SWITZERLAND proposed suspending discussions until
the end of the week, when further voluntary contributions will
be announced. CAMEROON suggested building consensus
through informal consultations. The EU then proposed deferring
consideration of this issue until GB 4. Chair Fernandez
suspended discussions to allow for informal consultations among
regional groups.

COMPLIANCE: The Secretariat introduced the draft
procedures and operational mechanisms to promote compliance
(IT/GB-3/09/06 Rev.1) and presented documents tabled and
decisions taken in previous sessions of the GB recommending
that a contact group be established at this session.

The G-77/CHINA, supported by the AFRICAN GROUP,
requested deferring this issue to a later GB session, noting it
was premature to address it when there is a lack of resources to
ensure proper implementation of the Treaty. The EUROPEAN
REGIONAL GROUP called for implementing the GB 2
decision to set up a contact group at this session, and noted
the compliance committee should be small and composed of
technical and legal experts who serve in their personal capacity.
INDIA stressed that the aim of compliance procedures should
be to formulate responses and correct non-compliance. The
SOUTH WEST PACIFIC and SWITZERLAND also noted
that the establishment of a contact group on compliance was
mandated by GB 2 and could not be postponed. The G-77/
CHINA remarked that GB 2 had decided to establish a contact
group “as appropriate,” which, in their view, is not the case here,
and Chair Fernandez suspended discussions to allow for informal
consultations.

FUNDING STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION: The
Secretariat introduced the item and reported on actions
undertaken since GB 2, in particular the completion of the first
project cycle under the benefit-sharing fund (IT/GB-3/09/8
Rev.1). The Secretariat noted the number and quality of
proposals received and awarded certificates to representatives of
eleven projects approved for funding, as listed in IT/GB-3/09/
Inf.11. Discussions will resume on Tuesday.

IN THE CORRIDORS

Arriving in Tunisia, many delegates commented that
the ITPGR Secretariat had mounted a tireless campaign to
facilitate implementation of the Treaty, overcoming impressive
obstacles on the way, not unlike Hannibal on his epic journey
from Carthage to Rome. The announcement of the first eleven
projects to be funded under the benefit-sharing fund was taken
as further proof of a job well done. Yet many wondered whether
such an effort could be sustained in the absence of long-term
financial commitments. A heated afternoon discussion on
whether parties’ voluntary contributions should be based on
an indicative scale or not, coupled with developing countries’
reluctance to discuss compliance in the absence of commitments
from developed countries on additional financial resources,
made it clear that funding issues would take center stage at
this session. Meanwhile, rumor had it that developed country
regional groups still need to bridge internal divides regarding
the provision of increased financial support towards the Treaty’s
implementation. As delegates broke for the evening, it was
evident that a strategic plan of attack is needed to ensure that
clear directions for the next two years of campaigning are
brought back to Rome from Carthage.




<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


